STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM C. (BILLY) SELLERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001667

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury that malice “is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse” since it could be reasonably interpreted as shifting the burden to appellant to prove a justification or excuse for his wrongful acts thereby rendering the instruction violative of appellant’s Due Process constitutional rights?

2.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability, “the hand of one is the hand of all,” since it was improper to instruct accomplice liability on the theory that the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence, it improperly invited speculation as to another person being the shooter and appellant being guilty as a participant where the evidence did not justify this instruction?

3.

Whether the court erred by admitting State’s Exhibits 58-59, where they were irrelevant since they were not probative of whether crucial state’s witness Phillip Griffin received consideration from the state for his testimony against appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Edgefield County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 757. His case was called to trial on August 27, 2018, before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, and a jury. Bennett Castro and Elizabeth Fullwood represented appellant. Suzanne Mayes and Robert McNair were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On August 31, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty. R. 749, ll. 2-3. Judge Griffith sentenced appellant to life imprisonment based upon his prior conviction in Florida for entering a dwelling while armed. R. 750, l. 16 – 751, l. 11.

This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Jury instructions (Issues 1&2)

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

Admission of evidence (Issue 3)

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The indictment in this case alleged that “William C. (Billy) Sellers, did in Edgefield County on or about October 9, 2014, feloniously, willfully, and with malice aforethought, kill Johnny Hydrick, the victim, by means of beating and that the said victim died in Edgefield County as a proximate result thereof . . .” R. 758. There were no co-defendants in this allegation, and no conspiracy was alleged. The state’s case was circumstantial.

The state’s theory of the case was that appellant had been buying oxycontin from the decedent. The decedent was found dead inside his home tied with his hands bound in duct tape. The decedent had suffered blunt force trauma and a fractured nose. He died of a closed head injury. R. 381, l. 7 – 386, l. 25.

The pathologist, Dr. Janice Ross, opined that the decedent may have been beaten with “a rod or something with a straight edge.” R. 387, l. 25 – 388, l. 6. Dr. Ross also said that some of the decedent’s injuries could have come from a fist, and that the decedent had “oxycodone and oxymorphone in his system.” R. 391, l. 17 – 392, l. 16.

Richard Hydrick, the decedent’s brother, found the decedent’s body on October 11, 2014, and he called 911. R. 34, l. 20 – 35, l. 5. Richard had talked to his decedent brother the night before and “everything was fine.” The decedent was on disability status after being in a car accident and he taking prescription pain medications. He was dating Jessica Reeder. However, Reeder was also living with Travis Murray at the time. R. 35, l. 1 – 40, l. 23.

Richard testified that Reeder had gotten into an argument with the decedent in August or September of that year. Richard believed that Reeder hit the decedent on the side with a baseball bat during the argument. R. 41, l. 5 – 42, l. 24. Defense counsel later argued to the jury that Reeder and her jealous live-in boyfriend Travis Murray actually killed the decedent, and

appellant was blamed for it. "If Billy didn't have the motive, then who did? Two people. Travis Murray and Jessica Reeder. The same two people that had the motive to kill Johnny Hydrick." R. 689, l. – 693, l. 21.

Richard said he talked with investigator Ireland on October 16, 2014, about items he believed were stolen from his decedent brother's house during the burglary-murder. There was no sign of forced entry, however. So, subterfuge to gain entry may have been involved by someone he knew. The stolen items included guns. A slot machine that the decedent played for pleasure in his home was also "busted up in pieces." R. 42, l. 22 – 47, l. 23.

On October 11, 2014, Officer Joseph Wood responded to the scene at the decedent's home in Edgefield County. Wood said there was no obvious signs of forced entry. R. 52, ll. 9-11. Blood was found in several locations "all throughout the house . . ." R. 52, l. 22 – 53, l. 9. The decedent's hands were bound with duct tape and there was a blanket covering him. R. 55, ll. 2-15.

The decedent wore an electronic monitor (GPS device) apparently because he was on probation with the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services. R. 63, ll. 2-25. The monitor ceased working at 1:43 a.m. on October 10, 2014. The theory was that the monitor quit working when the decedent died at 1:43 a.m. on October 10, 2014. R. 72, l. 17 – 74, l. 13.

Investigator Curtis Morris testified appellant's DNA was *not* found inside the home of the decedent. Neither appellant's DNA nor his fingerprints were found on the duct tape. R. 149, l. 21 – 154, l. 3. Appellant's DNA was also *not* found on a .38 caliber Titan Tiger gun. R. 161, l. 5 – 162, l. 5. The blanket covering the body of the decedent was not sent to SLED for testing. The baseball bat allegedly used by Jessica Reeder to hit the decedent on a prior occasion was also not collected by law enforcement at the time of his death. R. 157, l. 7 – 158, l. 22. When

the decedent's brother, Richard Hydrick, later brought that baseball bat to the police, no blood was found on that bat. R. 158, l. 3 – 159, l. 5.

The state presented various jailhouse snitches who claimed they received information about the murder from appellant. Dennis Amerson admitted he had been addicted to methamphetamines. R. 174, l. 3 – 175, l. 8. Amerson said he met appellant for the first time in the Edgefield County jail. R. 175, l. 24 – 176, l. 7.

Amerson related that appellant showed him photographs of his children “and stuff and was like telling me where that he was gonna (sic) get called up and that he was worried that they were gonna find stuff in his van to convict him of the charges because he had told me that he was being convicted of murder.” R. 176, l. 20 – 177, l. 1. Amerson claimed appellant also said “he hopes his wife don’t find out that he had done it . . . that she wouldn’t have nothing to do with him.” R. 177, ll. 8-17.

Amerson claimed appellant told him that the decedent “was tied up and I think beat. I think that’s what it was.” Amerson also said appellant confided that “a slot machine . . . pills, and some change or something like that . . .” were stolen. Appellant also allegedly told Amerson “they had got rid of them [the stolen items].” R. 178, ll. 13-24.

In addition, Amerson maintained that appellant told him that a drug dealer had been arrested in Aiken “or somewhere like that and he had told on him to try to get hisself (sic) out of trouble.” R. 179, l. 22 – 180, l. 6. Amerson contended that appellant confessed to him that he committed the murder and stole pills, money, and a slot machine. Amerson denied that appellant merely told him what he was accused of doing these things. R. 186, ll. 18-25.

Phillip Griffin

Phillip Griffin was arrested on November 21, 2014. He also was addicted to methamphetamines. R. 197, l. 23 – 202, l. 13.

Griffin testified that he became cellmates with appellant, and they began talking “about each other’s charges.” Griffin said appellant told him “at first it wasn’t him and then that kind of changed towards the end. . . . His story would change a little bit and he kind of started putting himself involved in the case.” R. 202, l. 17 – 203, l. 11.

Griffin testified appellant asked him questions about DNA evidence. Griffin said appellant mentioned a time “when the guy Johnny fell down the steps and kind of broke his nose, broke his nose and he went to help him up and he said if there was any blood like on the passenger side, that’s what that would be from because he tried to help him in the van. He was going to take him to the hospital and the guy Johnny was like no. No. I’ll be fine.” Griffin thought appellant was talking about an incident from September 2014 involving the decedent and the van. R. 204, l. 6 – 205, l. 16.

Griffin opined that appellant’s story “changed a lot.” Griffin said appellant told him he “went there” to commit a robbery and that they were going to “pull a lick.” They knew the decedent “just got his prescriptions filled and he was gonna go get his pills. If he had any money, he wanted it, too.” The rumor was that a man named “Gee” – who was never located and may not even exist -- was allegedly involved with appellant in the robbery. R. 205, l. 13 – 207, l. 4.

Griffin alleged appellant told him, “They went to his house and they taped him up and was asking him where the pills were and they were pistol whipping him until he told them where

the pills were.” R. 207, ll. 5-14. Griffin maintained that appellant was surprised he was charged with murder “because he said when he left, the guy was still alive.” R. 209, ll. 4-24.

Finally, Griffin said that appellant in addition to talking about a person named “Gee” also mentioned a person named “Jersey.” R. 212, ll. 19-23.

Griffin’s sentencing exposure

Griffin admitted he had a sentencing exposure of *fifty years imprisonment* at the time, but he denied he received any sentencing exposure assistance for testifying against appellant. R. 228, ll. 9-20. He admitted some charges were dropped, and he got a lenient sentence with probation on other charges, but he nonetheless denied the sentencing judge knew of his agreement to testify in this case. R. 226, l. 4 – 228, l. 20.

After Griffin claimed he received no sentencing consideration for testifying against appellant, the state sought to introduce two of Griffin’s guilty plea sentencing sheets which had “no negotiation” checked on the form. Defense counsel objected on the grounds of relevance, and that objection was overruled. The sentencing sheets were therefore admitted. R. 231, l. 16 – 233, l. 1. R. 752.

Hakim Talib testified that he sold marijuana to “the whole neighborhood” and that appellant began buying marijuana from him also. He was “Jersey.” R. 291, l. 24 – 292, l. 5. Hakim said that appellant at one point approached him about buying “a shotgun, pills, and a .38.” R. 296, ll. 11-15. Hakim maintained that he told appellant he did not want to buy a shotgun, “I ain’t interested in no shotgun. I can’t flip no shotgun like that. I don’t want no big giant gun. I don’t need no big gun.” R. 297, ll. 15-20.

Hakim said he talked to Investigator Ireland about what he knew about this case and he told him about "Gee." Hakim said he thought Gee was a "real person" but he did not know his real name. R. 318, l. 21 – 320, l. 21.

Wesley Brown had been convicted of trafficking in crack. R. 439, l. 1 – 440, l. 13. Brown met appellant when he was his cellmate in the detention center. R. 440, ll. 11-19.

Brown testified that in "general conversation" appellant mentioned Shawn Nicholson, who was known as "Bald Head." Brown told appellant he was very close to Shawn and appellant allegedly told Brown "that Shawn was his alibi and that, you know, he just went to talking about, you know, all kind of small stuff about saying that a guy named Jersey was the reason he was locked up. Said Jersey got caught with some stuff, some drugs or something, got busted in Aiken and told on him." R. 442, l. 1 – 443, l. 19.

Brown contended that appellant wanted Brown to talk to the investigator "and basically tell the investigator that Jersey was the one who killed this guy." R. 443, l. 20 – 444, l. 2. Brown also contended appellant wanted him "to say that I met Jersey and sold him some drugs and he tried to sell me some guns and Jersey was supposed to tell me that, you know, guns came from the guy that got killed and all of this stuff. He wanted me to tell the investigator that Jersey gave me all the information about the murder." R. 444, ll. 3-9.

Brown testified appellant "gave me a piece of paper that he had done wrote down what he wanted me to say." R. 445, ll. 1-16. Brown claimed that appellant told him that "they did it with a .38" but he did not know the other person -- "who that could be" -- appellant may have alleged was also involved. R. 446, ll. 1-25.

However, Brown maintained appellant wanted him to "pin it on Jersey." R. 447, ll. 3-4.

Brown testified that appellant told him they used a .38 "not to shoot him but to beat him with it.

They beat him with a .38." R. 447, ll. 15-18. Brown said the letter he wrote said:

"Sometime in the middle of October I went to serve some reefer to a guy named Jersey, a/k/a Hakim Talib. After I served him, he began to ask me if I was interested in buying a shotgun, a .38 revolver or some pain pills. He said he had beat some dude's ass who owe him some money. Beat him unconscious with a .38 he was trying to sell so he took the guy's shotgun and pills as payment. Told me that had it been him he'd have given everything that he had to avoid a beating like that. Jersey said he had his cousin handle it like pros, that there was no way it would come back on them. I said I didn't need anything like that. A couple of weeks later I was visiting a friend who told me Jersey got busted with a pound of reefer and some gun. I went to his house off Alfred Street and he told me that he was gonna get probation he thought because he told the police about the guy he beat who ended up dying and set up a white boy he used to sell reefer to. Jersey said he found out from the white boy dude named Billy that he was questioned by the Edgefield police about the death of his pill guy so Jersey had his cousin who was serving the white guy at the time start putting certain information in the white boy's phone but didn't say what. It said that the white boy was a duck and trusted anyone. He said he was a meth head and was an easy fall guy. Jersey then asked if I could get him right with some reefer and I said I'll see what I could do. I'll see what was up."

R. 448, l. 19 – 449, l. 18.

Brown claimed he wrote the letter because appellant told him he could get out of jail if he provided good information to law enforcement. R. 474, ll. 4-14. Brenda Heath, the questioned documents examiner, testified appellant was the author of State's Exhibit 84, the letter. R. 485, ll. 7-10.

Investigator Phillip Ireland testified he spoke to appellant on October 25, 2014. R. 502, l. 2 – 504, l. 3. Ireland said appellant asked him, "Have you found anyone else besides me who did this, or do you feel like it's just me?" R. 505, ll. 15-24.

Ireland related that during his investigation he learned that Travis Murray and Jessica Reeder had a strained relationship and that Travis was very jealous of her. R. 526, l. 12 – 533, l. 5. Ireland testified that the decedent provided Jessica Reeder with pills and money. Ireland also learned that Jessica Reeder had hit the decedent with a baseball bat on a prior occasion. R. 531, l. 5. – 533, l. 5.

Appellant admitted to Ireland that he had purchased pills from the decedent. Finally, Ireland offered that Travis Murray and Jessica Reeder were both arrested for the first-degree burglary of the decedent's home and for the murder of the decedent. R. 544, ll. 17-23. Ireland finally opined he believed that "Gee" was a real person although law enforcement was never able to locate him. R. 539, l. 18 – 540, l. 4.

Shawn Nicholson testified that appellant was his neighbor for a year or a year and a half. They both got high smoking marijuana "and things of that sort." R. 577, l. 12 – 578, l. 6.

Nicholson testified that he, Travis Murray, and appellant went to an abandoned house to "scrap for metal" to sell to the recycling plant. R. 579, l. 4 – 582, l. 9. Nicholson heard appellant and Travis talking about a man "Travis girlfriend was dealing with" at the time. R. 584, ll. 1-22. Nicholson said he never learned the name of the man they were talking about but he thought it was someone having sex "with his [Travis's] girlfriend" and they were talking about "doing a lick." Nicholson thought "they was just talking trash," and that they were not serious about robbing this man. R. 586, l. 1 – 587, l. 9.

Nicholson testified that on the night of October 9, 2014, appellant came to his house and said he had been in an argument with his girlfriend or wife. R. 587, l. 10 – 594, l. 6. While appellant stayed at Nicholson's house that night, Nicholson maintained that appellant was gone from about midnight to 3 a.m. that morning. R. 591, l. 9 – 596, l. 11.

Joseph Lowe testified he had sold meth to appellant in the past. R. 629, l. 2 – 630, l. 14. Lowe said appellant “wanted to know if I wanted to do a lick with him.” This apparently involved the robbery of a disabled man who “gets drunk and gets pillled up and passes out and he’ll be an easy target and I told him I didn’t want no part of it.” R. 631, ll. 2-6. Lowe said he “cut ties with him [appellant]” at that point. R. 631, ll. 10-15.

Lowe also testified that appellant called him on the phone late at night and asked him “if I wanted to trade him some, he said I think a shotgun and a rifle and some pills that he had gotten, uhm, and I didn’t want them . . .” R. 631, l. 25 – 632, l. 6. Lowe maintained appellant told him “for a beating like that he would have give everything he had to not get a beating like that but he didn’t have but a dollar in his wallet.” Lowe said he thought appellant told him “a shotgun and a rifle and some pills were stolen.” R. 632, ll. 22-25.

Lowe thought that appellant wanted to trade the stolen items for “crystal meth.” R. 633, ll. 4-8. Lowe said he contacted Tommy Brock, a longtime family friend, with the Aiken police department to tell him about what appellant had said about the incident. R. 635, l. 11 – 647, l. 23. Lowe admitted he had only known appellant for about two weeks when he claimed appellant asked him about “doing this lick.” R. 647, ll. 5-20. Lowe also maintained that he only continued talking to appellant so that Investigator Ireland could find appellant and arrest him. R. 651, ll. 4-22.

The charge conference – malice and accomplice liability

Defense counsel Fullwood objected to the judge charging the jury that malice is the “intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and [or] with an intent to inflict an injury under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent [or malice].” Counsel argued that the phrase “*without just cause or excuse*,” could be construed as burden shifting. Defense

counsel Fullwood also observed, “I know it’s in the charge books but I always object to it because I think it’s wrong.” R. 725, l. 20 – 726, l. 21.

The judge then stated, “That’s how charges get amended and changed.” However, after the solicitor said she had no comment or objection to the “standard charge,” the judge overruled counsel’s objection to the “without just cause or excuse” malice instruction. “I’m gonna stick with the standard charge. Do you know how oddly I have my granddad’s old charge book and he retired in ’67 and this charge is in there still. . . .” R. 725, l. 20 – 726, l. 21.

Defense counsel Fullwood then said she was not waiving her objection to the “without just cause or excuse” jury instruction but she asked the judge to modify it with the preface that it could “lead to an inference of malice depending on your view of the evidence” if the judge was going to charge it. The judge said he “would think about it.” R. 726, l. 22 – 727, l. 13.

Defense counsel Fullwood also objected to charging the hand of one is the hand of all, or, the accomplice liability instruction. She noted that there was no evidence “[t]hat there was anyone else involved. There’s no testimony that this was the act of more than one person.” Counsel argued that “references” or “suggestions” and “innuendo” did not constitute evidence which was needed for an accomplice liability instruction. R. 662, ll. 13-22.

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