STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

v.

WILLIAM C. (BILLY) SELLERS,

RECEIVED
MAR 30 2020
Respondent
SC Court of Appeals

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2018-001667

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

On re-direct examination, and over Sellers' objection, the court ruled State could introduce Phillip Griffin's sentencing sheets from a plea taking place January 15, 2015. (R. p. 230, line 21 – p. 233, line 1). The State utilized them to demonstrate Griffin pled guilty to the two charges as indicted, "without negotiations or recommendations." (R. p. 231, lines 1-15; R. p. 232, lines 4-8; R. pp. 752-53).

Relevant evidence is defined as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. "Evidence which assists the jury in

arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). “Evidence is admissible if ‘logically relevant’ to establish a material fact or element of the crime; it need not be ‘necessary’ to the State’s case in order to be admitted.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513.

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; *see also State v. Cooley*, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000) (although evidence is relevant, it should be excluded where danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its probative value). And, “[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE.

“[I]t is generally recognized that the existence of a plea agreement ‘may be elicited by the prosecutor on direct examination so that the jury may assess the credibility of the witnesses the government asks them to believe.’” *United States v. Henderson*, 717 F.2d 135, 137 (4th Cir. 1983) (quoting *United States v. Halbert*, 640 F.2d 1000, 1004 (9th Cir. 1981)); *United States v. Sullivan*, 455 F.3d 248, 259 (4th Cir. 2006). This is true on direct and on re-direct examination, particularly where the defense delves into the witness’ criminal history as a potential motivator for his or her appearance against the defendant on trial. *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. at 628-31, 545 S.E.2d at 817-19; *see United States v. Spriggs*, 996 F.2d 320 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (permitting the prosecution on direct examination to introduce the witness’ cooperation agreement in its entirety, and adopting majority rule that admission of plea agreements containing “truthtelling” and perjury provisions did not result in improper bolstering); *see also State v. Wills*, 390 S.C. 139, 700 S.E.2d 266 (Ct. App. 2010) (defendant’s proffer agreement admissible for impeachment

absent some affirmative indication the proffer was entered into unknowingly or involuntarily). “At least where the defendant plans to impeach a witness by showing the existence of a plea agreement, the government’s direct examination need not be restricted to the scope of the defendant’s intended cross-examination.” *United States v. Henderson, supra* (citing *United States v. Whitehead*, 618 F.2d 523, 529 (4th Cir. 1980)).

Moreover, “[w]hen a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.” *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. at 137, 731 S.E.2d at 610 (citations omitted). “It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence.” *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008). Once Sellers impeached Griffin, the State was entitled to present testimony on the now-open topic of Griffin’s potential bias. *See* Rule 608(c), SCRE.

Here, Sellers’ cross-examination of Griffin made a beeline to Griffin’s guilty plea, which occurred within a couple months of his being arrested and housed with Sellers. (R. p. 221, line 23 – p. 223, line 24; R. pp. 752-53). As a result of the plea, Griffin served only eleven months when he faced a maximum fifty-year sentence on all charges. (R. p. 226, line 18 – p. 227, line 23). During cross-examination, Griffin denied that this sentence had anything to do with his assistance in Sellers’ case, but he later answered that he went to law enforcement once he got in trouble. (R. p. 225, line 24 – p. 226, line 4; R. p. 228, lines 21-25; R. p. 229, lines 20-24). The State was entitled to respond by presenting additional facts regarding the plea agreement so that the jury could better assess the credibility of this witness. *United States v. Henderson, supra*; *State v. Shuler, supra*; *State v. McEachern, supra*.

IV. Any error proves harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

“Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809. An insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial will be found harmless so long as “guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.” *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 828 (1967) (verdict stands so long as “beyond a reasonable doubt, the error[s] complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained”). “No definite rule of law governs the finding that an error was harmless; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. at 483, 663 S.E.2d at 360 (internal citations omitted).

The State delivered a case succinctly probative of guilt. “[A]ll of the circumstances” presented by the State were “consistent with each other, and when taken together, point[ed] conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 99, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013). Johnny Hydrick’s GPS ankle monitor logged a “no motion” beginning at 1:43 AM on October 10, 2014. (R. p. 67, line 23 – p. 72, line 3). When his badly beaten body was discovered over 24 hours later, he appeared as though he had been deceased for some time, his hands were bound with duct tape, and his blood was spattered and strewn throughout the residence; yet there were no signs of forced entry. (R. p. 37, lines 14-24; R. p. 52, line 6 – p. 55, line 12; R. p. 384, line 18 – p. 386, line 20; R. p. 418, line 14 – p. 422, line 9; R. p. 427, line 17 – p. 431, line 17).

Officers did not find any firearms, cash, or prescription bottles of OxyContin in Johnny’s residence. (R. p. 143, lines 1-16). However, he had refilled his prescription pain medication on

October 6. (R. p. 251, line 10 – p. 253, line 25). Johnny was known to sell the pills to other people, including Sellers. (R. p. 269, lines 12-20; R. p. 493, lines 19-23). One of the people Johnny sold the pills to (Jessica) dated one of Johnny's co-workers (Travis). (R. p. 40, line 8 – p. 41, line 1). Johnny would drive Travis to work every day. (R. p. 490, line 4 – p. 491, line 10). Sellers told law enforcement that he went with Travis and his neighbor Shawn to scrap metal across the street from Johnny's house on October 7 or 8. (R. p. 492, lines 1-5). Records from Coastal Recycle and Scrap showed that Sellers sold scrap metal on October 7 and 8. (R. p. 257, line 6 – p. 260, line 19). Sellers' cell phone records and Shawn further corroborated that they were scrapping in that area at that time. (R. p. 578, lines 24 – p. 583, line 13; R. p. 620, lines 1-22). Shawn also recalled Johnny talking about hitting a lick and other "trash" about Johnny while they were scrapping that day. (R. p. 584, line 8 – p. 586, line 24). Yet another one of Sellers' acquaintances, Joey Lowe, recalled Sellers contacting him asking if he wanted to hit a lick on an older disabled man Sellers described as an "easy target." (R. p. 630, line 1 – p. 631, line 9).

Then, during the evening hours and into the night of October 9, Sellers came over to Shawn's house to escape a fight he had with his significant other. (R. p. 588, line 15 – p. 590, line 24). Shawn went to sleep around 10:00 PM, but when he woke up around midnight on October 10, Sellers wasn't there. (R. p. 591, lines 11-15; R. p. 595, lines 17-22). Sellers did not answer Shawn's phone calls, (R. p. 591, line 18 – p. 592, line 2), and he reappeared at Shawn's house between 2:00 and 3:00 AM. (R. p. 592, lines 3-11). This is corroborated by a phone call Shawn received from Sellers at 2:52 AM. (R. p. 596, lines 1-8). According to Shawn, Sellers appeared uncomfortable, and said he had parked his van down the street so his girlfriend couldn't see it. (R. p. 592, line 14 – p. 593, line 8). Sellers did not tell Shawn where he had been, and Shawn "never really asked." (R. p. 597, lines 11-24). Also around this time, at 2:48 AM on

October 10, Sellers called Joey Lowe asking to trade pills, a shotgun, and a rifle Sellers had stolen. (R. p. 632, line 3 – p. 633, line 11; R. p. 637, line 24 – p. 638, line 3). Sellers sounded out of breath and told Joey that “he would have given everything he had to not get a beating like that.” (R. p. 632, lines 17-25; R. p. 633, lines 20-21). Sellers also mentioned the imprint on the pill to Joey Lowe. (R. p. 633, lines 2-3). Joey independently sought out law enforcement when he saw news of Johnny’s murder. (R. p. 634, line 22 – p. 636, line 7; R. p. 638, lines 4-8; R. p. 657, lines 6-12).

During the same timeframe as the calls to Joey and Shawn, Sellers used his cell phone to Google the term K57. (R. p. 567, lines 4-19). Johnny’s prescription pills were light brown, round, and imprinted with the identifier K57. (R. p. 254, line 10 – p. 256, line 4). Sellers’ phone records for this timeframe further showed a gap of activity on October 10 from 12:17 AM to 2:11 AM, corresponding with the no-movement notification on Johnny’s ankle monitor. (R. p. 564, lines 5-19; R. p. 603, lines 16-17). Also during this time, calls made from Shawn to Sellers were not reflected on Sellers’ phone records, indicating Sellers’ phone was off during this period. (R. p. 565, line 2 – p. 566, line 8; R. p. 605, lines 1-5).

Additionally, Johnny’s family reported his guns missing shortly after the murder. (R. p. 43, lines 1-6). A .38 revolver seized during an unrelated investigation of the home of Hakim “Jersey” Talib, was later connected to the Johnny’s death and submitted it to SLED. (R. p. 138, line 9 – p. 140, line 19; R. p. 275, line 1 – p. 278, line 21). Jersey sold weed to Sellers and knew Sellers drove a red van. (R. p. 291, line 21 – p. 293, line 12). According to Jersey, Sellers came to him looking to sell “a shotgun, pills, and a .38” in October. (R. p. 296, line 11 – p. 297, line 25). Jersey refused to buy the shotgun or the pills but he did take the .38. (R. p. 299, line 1 – p. 301, line 11). Johnny’s niece identified the pistol seized from Jersey’s house as the same pistol

Johnny kept on him at all times. (R. p. 237, line 4 – p. 238, line 16). Johnny's DNA was located on the gun. (R. p. 434, line 2 – p. 435, line 10). Moreover, areas inside the red van reacted positively to a presumptive test for the presence of blood. (R. p. 352, lines 21-25; R. p. 353, lines 10-21; R. p. 354, lines 18-23).

Sometimes Sellers called Jersey looking for a guy named Gee that Sellers worked with. (R. p. 295, lines 1-6; R. p. 334, lines 4-6). Sellers later told his cellmate Phillip Griffin that he met up with Gee and they went and pistol whipped Johnny, robbing him of his prescription pills and money. (R. p. 205, line 16 – p. 206, line 14; R. p. 207, lines 8-14; R. p. 211, line 20 – p. 212, line 11). Sellers told another cellmate that he was scrapping metal across from the victim's house one day and that they went back later that day and tied up and beat the victim and robbed him and got rid of the stolen items. (R. p. 177, line 19 – p. 178, line 24). Sellers tried to get yet another cellmate to pin the murder on Jersey, drafting a statement for that inmate to sign and turn in; however, Sellers told this cellmate that "they" beat an old white guy with a .38. (R. p. 443, line 10 – p. 449, line 18; R. p. 485, lines 2-10). Sellers implied to this cellmate that Gee planted text messages into Sellers' phone to make it look like Sellers committed the crimes. (R. p. 450, lines 7-25).

The record further includes evidence of consciousness of guilt. After Sellers was arrested, he initiated contact with law enforcement, asking if they had "found anyone else" to arrest, or if they felt "it was just" him. (R. p. 505, lines 2-24). Sellers' phone records divulged that he deleted the contact information for Gee, and any calls concerning him, from his phone. (R. p. 562, line 2 – p. 563, line 20; R. p. 569, lines 15-17). At least one series of text messages taking place between 3:00 and 4:00 AM on October 10 had been deleted as well. (R. p. 563, lines 1-20; R. p. 568, lines 2-14).

Beyond a reasonable doubt, the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict in this case. *Chapman v. California, supra*. After a fact-intensive inquiry, the jury instructions on hand of one, hand of all, and the definition of malice could not have contributed to the verdict obtained. The evidence conclusively establishes Sellers as a chief actor in the crime, regardless of the presence of Gee or another person. Sellers knew the victim, knew he had prescription pills, took his cell phone “off the grid” during the material timeframe, and made demonstrative efforts to offload the pills and guns taken from the victim’s home. The victim’s DNA was recovered from the .38 tied back to Sellers and there was a presumptive positive for blood located in three spots in Sellers’ van. Sellers’ “trash talking” the victim to Shawn while they were scrapping metal across the street from his house prior to the murder, and Sellers’ contacting Joey Lowe to ask him if he wanted to help hit a lick on an “easy target” demonstrate forethought. And the condition of the victim, Sellers’ obvious effort to conceal his own presence at the victim’s house (no other prints or DNA could be identified from the scene), and Sellers’ immediate efforts to offload the prescription pills to Joey Lowe while telling him that “he would have given everything he had to not get a beating like that” further support the finding of malice absent just cause or excuse.

Even more, speaking specifically to issue III and the credibility of Phillip Griffin, harmless error, if any error at all, must result. An issue of witness credibility calls for the court to “consider the importance of the witness’s testimony to the prosecution’s case, whether the witness’s testimony was cumulative, whether other evidence corroborates or contradicts the witness’s testimony, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the State’s case.” *State v. Fossick*, 333 S.C. 66, 70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 34 (1998). Griffin was also not the only cellmate to mention the existence of the gun—Wesley Omar Brown

provided that information to law enforcement as well. (R. p. 446, line 10 – p. 447, line 20; R. p. 448, lines 19-25). Brown’s testimony, which includes Sellers’ handwritten statement that Brown turned in to authorities, is not only cumulative to that of Griffin, but is far more probative given its tie to Sellers’ own handwritten explanation of events. (R. p. 485, lines 2-10).

Accordingly, any error in the trial court’s rulings should be determined harmless. For the reasons described herein, the State presented an entirely consistent narrative indubitably probative of Sellers’ guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm Appellant Sellers’ conviction for murder.